FROM FILE

FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 19-0018

CYNTHIA MCCOY, ANNA ESCHELMEYER, And WILLIAM FOWLER,

Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners,

٧.

STEVEN DRAGISICH,

Defendant Below, Respondent.

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONERS

Frank X. Duff, Esq. (WV Bar #1065)
Sandra K. Law, Esq. (WV Bar #6071)
Schrader, Companion, Duff & Law, PLLC
401 Main Street
Wheeling, WV 26003
(304) 233-3390
fxd@schraderlaw.com
skl@schraderlaw.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR THE DEFENDANT WHEN IT HELD THE DEFENDANT OWED NO LEGAL DUTY OF CARE TO THE PLAINTIFFS, EVEN THOUGH THE DEFENDANT SIGNED A FEE CONTRACT WITH THE PLAINTIFFS AND TOOK ABSOLUTELY NO STEPS TO DILIGENTLY PROVIDE COMPENTENT REPRESENTATION.
- 2. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THERE WERE NO ISSUES OF FACT, THAT AN ATTORNEY-CLIENT RELATIONSHIP HAD NOT BEEN FORMED BETWEEN THE DEFENDANT AND THE PLAINTIFFS, EVEN THOUGH THE DEFENDANT SIGNED A FEE CONTRACT WITH THE PLAINTIFFS AND THE PLAINITFFS BELIEVED THE DEFENDANT WAS WORKING ON THEIR CASE.
- 3. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE DEFENDANT, AS AN ASSOCIATE, WAS ONLY EXPECTED TO DO WHAT HIS EMPLOYER ASKED AND HE OWED NO INDIVDUAL DUTY AS AN ATTORNEY, TO THE PLAINTIFFS.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Plaintiffs' mother, Hilda Bain, passed away on January 19, 2010, following treatment at Wheeling Hospital, Acuity Specialty Hospital, Trinity Medical Center and West Penn Hospital. (A.R. 1-4, 165, 187-189). On February 2, 2010, Richard Bain (Hilda Bain's husband and the Plaintiffs' stepfather) qualified as the executor of Mrs. Bain's estate. (A.R. 423). On March 26, 2010, the Plaintiffs met with Attorney Grishkevich, about pursuing a wrongful death action and removing Mr. Bain as the personal representative of the estate. (A.R. 196, 311-312). A fee agreement "to provide legal services concerning a wrongful death action/malpractice issue and removal of personal representative," was signed to that effect on March 26, 2010. (A.R. 196).

The Plaintiffs believed that Mr. Bain would not pursue a wrongful death action since his son worked at Acuity and provided care to Mrs. Bain. (A.R. 312). Ms.

Grishkevich contacted Mr. Bain about pursuing a wrongful death suit on April 29, 2010. (A.R. 266-267). Mr. Bain then contacted the Frankovitch law firm, which advised Ms. Grishkevich they would look into the matter of a possible wrongful death claim. (A.R. 269). The Frankovitch firm ultimately declined to take the wrongful death case, but referred Mr. Bain to Ms. Grishkevich, who still wanted to pursue the matter. (A.R. 270-271). Ms. Grishkevich again wrote Mr. Bain about pursuing a claim on December 27, 2010. (A.R. 273).

Mrs. Bain's estate was closed by Mr. Bain on June 4, 2010, with no wrongful death action being filed. (A.R. 262). The Defendant joined Ms. Grishkevich's law firm in August of 2010. (A.R. 199, 321). Even though he was hired as an associate attorney, the Defendant had several years more experience as an attorney than Ms. Grishkevich. (A.R. 295-296).

On January 3, 2011, Plaintiff McCoy was advised that Ms. Grishkevich's office needed her to come in to sign a new fee contract for two reasons: One, because the Defendant was coming on board and Two, the rate was being raised from 30 to 40%. (A.R. 313). Ms. McCoy went in and signed the agreement, and had no belief that the agreement was changing in any way other than to include Mr. Dragisich and raise the rate. (A.R. 313-316). A letter sent by Ms. Grishkevich to Ms. McCoy on January 24, 2011, enclosed "a copy of the Retainer Agreement that you signed ..., wherein you have agreed to retain us as counsel for the wrongful death claim of Hilda I. Bain." (A.R. 283-284).

The Defendant was specifically referenced by name in the January 3, 2011

Retainer Agreement, and was identified as the "Attorney." (A.R. 275). The Retainer

Agreement states "Client hereby retains and employs Attorney to: Legal Services. Provide legal services concerning an incident regarding the estate of Hilda I. Bain." (A.R. 275). The January 3, 2011 Retainer Agreement stated the Attorney would charge a fee of 40% for his services, which will be collected upon settlement, and "In consideration for said payment, Attorney agrees to perform to the best of his/her abilities and to exhibit due diligence in the conduct of said services." (A.R. 275).

Plaintiff McCoy testified she was told the Defendant was coming on board to help with the case, and if Ms. Grishkevich was not available, she could always ask for Mr. Dragisich. (A.R. 313-316). Plaintiff McCoy also testified that on at least one occasion when she called the office and Ms. Grishkevich was not in, she specifically asked to speak to the Defendant. (A.R. 314). The Defendant testified that prior to signing the Retainer Agreement, he was introduced to Ms. McCoy, and that Ms. McCoy was told he would be working on her case. (A.R. 204, 324). The Defendant testified that he looked over the Retainer Agreement before he signed it. (A.R. 204). The Defendant also testified that he thought he would be performing estate work. (A.R. 326).

Within days of the signing of the January 3, 2011 agreement, a petition to remove Mr. Bain as the executor was drafted, dated January 7, 2011. (A.R. 277-279). Plaintiff McCoy testified that Ms. Grishkevich told her the petition was filed with the Clerk, but there is no record of the petition ever being filed. (A.R.317).

On January 17, 2011, Ms. Grishkevich and the Defendant entered into a fee contract with Mr. Bain. (A.R. 281). The language of the Bain contract is identical to the

¹ Had the claims against the Defendant not been dismissed, the Plaintiff intended to challenge the assertion that a 40% contingency agreement, payable upon settlement, is consistent with a reasonable fee for estate work. It should also be noted that Mrs. Bain's estate was closed on June 4, 2010. (A.R. 262).

one signed by the Plaintiff. (A.R. 275, 281). Ms. Grishkevich drafted a letter to Plaintiff McCoy on January 24, 2011 advising that Mr. Bain had signed an agreement to proceed with the wrongful death claim. (A.R. 283-284). Ms. Grishkevich also stated she was sending her a copy of their January 3, 2011 fee contract "wherein you agreed to retain us as counsel for the wrongful death claim." (A.R. 283-284).

Mr. Dragisich testified that after signing the fee contracts with the Plaintiffs and Mr. Bain, he did absolutely nothing further. (A.R. 324, 329-330, 332-333). He never reviewed the file, never talked to Ms. Grishkevich about the case or what needed to be done, never talked to the clients, never looked into the possible conflict of interest between the Plaintiffs and Bain, never looked into the estate (which was already closed) and never investigated the case in any way. (A.R. 324, 329-330, 332-333).

The Defendant left the Grishkevich & Curtis law firm in April of 2011. (A.R. 321). He never contacted the Plaintiffs about his departure, or the status of their case. (A.R. 321-323). Mr. Bain was never removed as executor and a wrongful death suit was never fully investigated nor filed by the Defendant or Ms. Grishkevich. The statutes of limitations to file wrongful death claims in West Virginia or Ohio passed with no lawsuit being filed by the Defendant or Ms. Grishkevich. In September and October of 2012, respectively, the Plaintiffs filed a Complaint and an Amended Complaint against the Defendant, Ms. Grishkevich and the Grishkevich & Curtis law firm, alleging legal malpractice. (A.R. 1-9).

In support of the Plaintiffs claims, the Plaintiffs retained two experts, Christopher Polen, M.D. and Sherri Goodman-Reveal. (A.R. 494). Dr. Polen, who is board certified in internal medicine and critical care, provided opinions regarding deviations from the

standard of care that occurred at Wheeling Hospital and Acuity in their care and treatment of Ms. Bain. (A.R. 257-260). Ms. Goodman-Reveal is an expert in legal ethics, professional responsibility and legal malpractice. (A.R. 286, 301-307). Ms. Goodman-Reveal prepared a report dated October 28, 2015, which set forth her opinion that the Defendant and Ms. Grishkevich had deviated from reasonable legal standards which supported the Plaintiffs' claims of legal malpractice. (A.R. 287-300).

Specifically, with regard to the Defendant, Ms. Goodman-Reveal opined that he owed the Plaintiffs a duty of care because he personally signed the second Retainer Agreement with the Plaintiffs as their Attorney. (A.R. 294-296). Ms. Goodman-Reveal also referenced Rule 5.8 of the Rules of Professional Responsibility² and W.Va. Code 31B-13-1305³ in support of this opinion. (A.R. 295). Ms. Goodman-Reveal further held that the Defendant neglected his duty of care to the Plaintiffs on several grounds. (A.R. 294-296). First, the Defendant failed to provide a conflict free representation, in that he also signed a Retainer Agreement with Mr. Bain, who did not follow through on filing a wrongful death case, and who the Plaintiffs wanted to remove as the personal representative for Mrs. Bain's estate. (A.R. 294-296). Second, the Defendant did not exercise any of his knowledge or skill on behalf of the Plaintiffs, even though the Defendant was the more experienced attorney signing the Retainer Agreement. (A.R. 294-296). The Defendant did not familiarize himself with the Plaintiffs' legal matter, did

² Rule 5.8(b) states "Nothing in this rule or the laws under which a lawyer or law firm is organized shall relieve a lawyer from personal liability for the acts, errors, and omissions of such lawyer arising out of the performance of professional legal services."

W.Va. Code 31B-13-1305(d) provides "notwithstanding any provision of this article to the contrary, any individual who renders a professional service as a member, manager, agent or employee of a professional limited liability company is liable for a negligent or wrongful act or omission in which the individual personally participated to the same extent as if the individual rendered the professional service as a sole practitioner." [Emphasis added].

not assess or protect the Plaintiffs from the risk inherent in his simultaneous representation of Mr. Bain, and did not determine the statutes of limitation applicable to the Plaintiffs' potential claims. (A.R. 294-296). Third, the Defendant failed to advise the Plaintiffs when he left the Grishkevich & Curtis law firm. (A.R. 294-296).

The Defendant never obtained an expert in this case.

On September 11, 2015, the Defendant filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (A.R. 139-244). On November 2, 2015, the Plaintiffs filed a Response to the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (A.R. 245-334). On November 20, 2015, the Defendant filed a Reply in Support of his Motion for Summary Judgment. (A.R. 335-360). On December 29, 2015, the Circuit Court granted the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (A.R. 361-370). The Circuit Court concluded signing an attorney client agreement, is not sufficient to establish an attorney client relationship, and the Defendant did not owe any legal duty of care to the Plaintiffs. (A.R. 361-370).

The Plaintiffs' case against the remaining Defendants was eventually resolved, and the Court entered a Final Dismissal Order on December 13, 2018. (A.R. 585). The Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal on January 4, 2019. (A.R. 587-606).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court's December 29, 2015 Order incorrectly found that the signing of a Retainer Agreement by the Plaintiff and the Defendant did not create an attorney client relationship between the parties. The Court failed to consider the clear language of the Retainer Agreement as a factor in establishing the existence of an attorney client relationship. The Retainer Agreement is a contract, wherein the Defendant, by name,

agreed to provide legal services to the Plaintiff, to perform said work to the best of his ability and to exhibit due diligence in the conduct of his services, and to charge a fee for his services of 40% of any settlement collected. The Defendant also testified that he reviewed the Retainer Agreement before he signed it, and that he told the Plaintiff he would be working on the case. Plaintiff McCoy testified the reasons she was told she needed to sign, and did sign, a second Retainer Agreement were because the Defendant was being brought on board and the fee rate was increasing.

The Defendant admitted that after signing the Retainer Agreement, he took no actions to investigate or work on the Plaintiffs' case. The Court incorrectly held the Defendant owed the Plaintiffs no legal duty of care, because he was only an associate attorney, and his signing of the Retainer Agreement did not obligate him to perform any work for the Plaintiffs.

The Plaintiffs also contend there are issues of fact regarding the Defendant's representation, making summary judgment inappropriate.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The facts and legal arguments in this matter have been adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument. Therefore, pursuant to R.A.P. 18(a)(4), oral argument is not requested, unless the Court determines oral argument is necessary.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

"A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo." Syllabus Point 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). "A motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law." Syllabus Point 3, *Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Insurance Co. of New York*, 148 W. Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963). Syllabus Point 1, *Andrick v. Town of Buckhannon*, 187 W. Va. 706, 421 S.E.2d 247 (1992). Syllabus Point 2, *Painter v. Peavy*. "The circuit court's function at the summary judgment stage is not to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the matter, but is to determine whether there is a genuine issue for trial." Syllabus Point 3, *Painter v. Peavy*. "Summary judgment is appropriate where the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove." Syllabus Point 4, *Painter v. Peavy*.

II. An Attorney Client Relationship Existed

The Circuit Court's Order finds the Defendant owed no duty to the Plaintiffs because no attorney client relationship existed between the Plaintiffs and the Defendant.

(A.R. 361-370). But the Court only reaches this conclusion by ignoring the largest piece of uncontested evidence in this case – the signed Retainer Agreement.

In *Keenan v. Scott*, 64 W.Va. 137, 61 S.E. 806 (1908) at Syl. Pt. 1, the Court held "As soon as the client has expressed a desire to employ an attorney, and there has been a

corresponding consent on the part of the attorney to act for him in a professional capacity, the relation of attorney and client has been established." See also *State ex rel. DeFrances v. Bedell*, 191 W.Va. 513, 446 S.E.2d 906 (1994). Plaintiff McCoy testified that one of the reasons she came in to the sign the new Retainer Agreement on January 3, 2011 was because the Defendant was being brought in to represent the Plaintiffs. (A.R. 313). While the Plaintiffs may have originally retained Ms. Grishkevich, before the Defendant joined her firm, a second Retainer Agreement was signed for the specific purpose of acknowledging and adding the Defendant as an attorney for the Plaintiffs. (A.R. 275). Plaintiff McCoy testified she was told she could always contact the Defendant if she had any questions about the case. (A.R. 313-316). Thus, there was a definite desire on the part of the Plaintiffs to employ the Defendant.

The Defendant testified that prior to signing the Retainer Agreement, he met the Plaintiff and Plaintiff McCoy was told he would be working on her case. (A.R. 204, 324). The Defendant also testified that prior to signing the Retainer Agreement, he did read and review the document. (A.R. 204). The clear and plain language of the Retainer Agreement states the Agreement is made and entered into "between Marcy J. Grishkevich, Esq., and Steven E. Dragisich, Esq." as Attorneys, with the Plaintiff. (A.R. 275). The Agreement is not between a law firm and the Plaintiffs, but the Plaintiffs, Ms. Grishkevich and the Defendant. In the Agreement, the Defendant, as the Attorney, is agreeing to provide legal services and to perform these services to the best of his ability and to exhibit due diligence in performing his services. (A.R. 275). The Agreement also provides for a 40% fee, and the recovery of reasonable attorney fees and costs in the

event legal action would be required to enforce any provision of the Agreement. (A.R. 275).

The Retainer Agreement clearly documents the creation of an attorney client relationship between the Plaintiffs and the Defendant. The actions of the parties are also consistent with the creation of a relationship. The Defendant admitted he thought he would at least be performing estate work for the Plaintiffs. (A.R. 326). If the Defendant had no intention of representing the Plaintiffs, why did he bother to review and sign a Retainer Agreement in which he promised to diligently perform legal services? What was the purpose of a Retainer Agreement if not to memorialize the contractual relationship being created between the Client and the Attorney?

The Circuit Court gave no weight to the existence of the signed Retainer

Agreement as a factor evidencing the creation of an attorney client relationship. In *May*v. Seibert, 164 W.Va. 673, 264 S.E.2d 643, 647 (1980), the Court held the "law

recognizes that these obligations to a client are difficult and severe. Therefore these

obligations are only imposed once an attorney decides to acquiesce in the establishment

of the attorney-client relationship as evidenced by a retainer agreement, whether oral

or written." [Emphasis added]. See also *Lawyer Disciplinary Bd. v. Santa Barbara*, 229

W.Va. 344, 729 S.E.2d 179 (W. Va., 2012). In *Santa Barbara*, the attorney provided a

sworn statement that it was not his intention to represent the plaintiff in a personal injury

matter, and he did not recall giving the retainer agreement or an authorization to obtain

medical records to the Plaintiff. Nonetheless, the investigating Hearing Panel of the

Lawyer Disciplinary Board determined an attorney client relationship was created when

it discovered a retainer agreement was signed by the attorney and the plaintiff. The

Supreme Court agreed with the Hearing Panel and found an attorney client relationship existed, resulting in attorney Santa Barbara violating a duty of care to the plaintiff when he missed a statute of limitations. *Id.* at 182.

The Circuit Court made three factual assumptions to absolve the Defendant of responsibility in this matter which are not supported by the evidence of record. First, the Court said the Plaintiffs never expressed a desire to hire the Defendant. (A.R. 366). This is incorrect as the January 3, 2011 Retainer Agreement was being signed to expressly add the Defendant as an Attorney for the Plaintiffs. (A.R. 275, 313-316).

Second, the Court said the Defendant signed the Retainer Agreement "in his capacity as an associate who was expected to do what his employer asked." (A.R. 367). There is absolutely no indication anywhere in the Retainer Agreement that the Defendant was signing in a limited role, or as an "associate." (A.R. 275). Additionally, an attorney is responsible for his own negligence, and is not exempted from liability as an attorney merely because he has the title of associate. W.Va. Prof. Resp. Rule 5.8(b) states "Nothing in this rule or the laws under which a lawyer or law firm is organized shall relieve a lawyer from personal liability for the acts, errors, and omissions of such lawyer arising out of the performance of professional legal services." See also W.Va. Code 31B-13-1305(d) which provides "any individual who renders a professional service as a member, manager, agent **or employee** of a professional limited liability company is liable for a negligent or wrongful act or omission in which the individual personally participated to the same extent as if the individual rendered the professional service as a sole practitioner." [Emphasis added]

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