# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIAY

No. 19-0018

CYNTHIA MCCOY, ANNA ESCHELMEYER, AND WILLIAM FOWLER, Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners

v.

### STEVEN DRAGISICH, Defendant Below, Respondent

WW 28803

Hon. Ronald E. Wilson Circuit Court of Hancock County Civil Action No. 12-C-185

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT STEVEN DRAGISICH

Counsel for Petitioners

Frank S. Duff (WV Bar No. 1065)
Sandra K. Law (WV Bar No. 6071)
Schrader, Companion, Duff & Law, PLLC
401 Main Street
Wheeling, WV 26003
(304) 233-3390
fxd@schraderlaw.com
skl@schraderlaw.com

Counsel for Respondent

Ancil G. Ramey (WV Bar No. 3013)
Hannah C. Ramey (WV Bar No. 7700)
Steptoe & Johnson PLLC
P.O. Box 2195

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

<sup>90</sup> Id. at 4 (citing Ronald E. Mallen, LEGAL MALPRACTICE § 5:41 (2015 ed.); Standage, supra.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> See Myers v. Muey, 915 P.2d 940 (Okl. Ct. App. 1996).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> App. at 178.

administrative estate work that may have been necessary in connection with Mrs. Bain's Estate.<sup>93</sup> He simply was not aware of any wrongful death or medical malpractice action, and he cannot be held liable for breaching a duty that was never communicated to him.<sup>94</sup>

For example, in *Myers v. Maxey*, 95 the plaintiffs sued two attorneys, Eva Maxey and John Preston, alleging that they negligently failed to finalize the last will and testament of the plaintiffs' decedent, Escal Myers. After Escal suffered a stroke, his wife Betty was appointed as his legal guardian. hereafter, Betty met with attorneys Maxey and Preston and asked them to prepare an estate plan for both Escal and Betty, among other legal services. After meeting with Betty, Maxey and Preston sent an engagement letter to Betty summarizing the services that they agreed to perform, including the estate planning work. Although Preston signed the engagement letter and discussed certain aspects of Escal's Last Will and Testament with Maxey, it was Maxey who drafted Escal's Will and ultimately exercised control over that portion of the legal work.

After Escal died, the Probate Court refused to admit his Last Will and Testament because Escal did not acknowledge and execute it in front of a probate judge as required by Oklahoma law for individuals subject to a guardianship. As a result, the plaintiffs received a significantly smaller share of Escal's estate than they would have received under Escal's Will.

Plaintiffs sued both Maxey and Preston, claiming that they negligently failed to advise them of Oklahoma law and negligently failed to ensure that Escal's Will was properly executed. The lower court granted Preston's motion for a directed verdict, and the Oklahoma Court of

<sup>93</sup> App. at 206.)

<sup>94</sup> See Ronald Mallen, LEGAL MALPRACTICE § 8:3 (2015 Edition).

<sup>95 915</sup> P.2d 940, 942 (Okl. Ct. App. 1996)

Appeals upheld that ruling because Preston was an employee attorney at the firm and did not possess control over the preparation of the will:

Appellants contend [that the lower court erred in granting Preston's motion] because Preston met with Betty Myers on two occasions, and [even] wrote a letter summarizing the firm's undertakings on Escal's behalf. He also discussed the applicability of [the relevant Oklahoma statute pertaining to the execution of wills by individuals subject to a guardianship] with Maxey on one occasion, and admitted that he did not caution her to have the will subscribed and acknowledged in front of a judge. We agree [] that this evidence was insufficient to render Preston either directly or vicariously Hable ••. [Preston] was not a principle in the law firm (i.e., not a shareholder, director, or officer), and he did not possess or exert any direction or control over the preparation of the will ...We therefore affirm the judgement in favor of Preston.<sup>96</sup>

The Myers case is analogous to the instant action. As in Myers, the Respondent was an associate employee who exercised no control whatsoever over any wrongful death claim in connection with Mrs. Bain's Estate. The Respondent was not an employee of Grishkevich & Curtis when the March 26, 2010, Retainer Agreement was executed and did not become aware of the document until the Petitioners filed their complaint in this case. Finally, the Petitioners never contacted the Respondent and there was never any correspondence or communications between the Petitioners and the Respondent regarding the matter.

While the Petitioners contend that the Respondent is somehow automatically liable because his employer, Grishkevich, directed him to sign the second Retainer Agreement, the trial court in *Myers* specifically rejected similar arguments. The plaintiffs in *Myers* argued for liability against attorney Preston because he attended two meetings with the plaintiffs and even sent them an engagement letter that summarized the scope of the representation, yet the trial court refused to impose such liability because Preston was not an owner/shareholder and did not exercise

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> Myers, supra at 944.

control over the legal work at issue. The instant case is even more compelling because the Respondent was not an owner/shareholder, never met with the Petitioners, never had any knowledge of the wrongful death claim, and indisputably did not have any control over the claim. Thus, as in *Myers*, the Petitioners' claims against the Respondent fail as a matter of law, and he was entitled to summary judgment.

The Petitioners attempt to impose liability on the Respondent also runs contrary to the well-settled principle of agency law that an employee cannot be held liable for the acts of the employer. It is undisputed that the Respondent executed the second Retainer Agreement at the direction of his supervisor, Grishkevich, and on behalf of Grishkevich & Curtis. The Respondent's involvement with the Petitioners stems from the fact that Grishkevich walked into his office unexpectedly, explained that she "may need" some help on the case, and directed him to sign the agreement. The Respondent was acting within the scope of his employment and at the specific direction of his employer. Grishkevich never advised him of a wrongful death claim and never directed him to do any work whatsoever on the case. In fact, when Grishkevich was questioned as to why she directed her associate to sign the second Retainer Agreement, Grishkevich indicated that he was "in the wrong place at the wrong time." The Respondent cannot be held liable under such circumstances.

In sum, it is unrefuted that the Respondent had no knowledge of or control over the wrongful death claim, and always acted at the direction of his employer, Grishkevich.

Accordingly, the Respondent was entitled to summary judgment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> App. at 230.

# 3. The Respondent was not Associated with Grishkevich & Curtis when the Statute of Limitations for a Wrongful Death Claim Expired.

It is well-settled that a "claim for legal malpractice must be based on an attorney-client relationship that existed" at the time of the alleged breach.<sup>98</sup> In most circumstances, whether an attorney-client relationship is formed is a question of law, and not a question of fact.<sup>99</sup>

A wrongful death claim must be brought within two years from the date of death.<sup>100</sup> As discussed above, Mrs. Bain died on January 19, 2010. So, the statute of limitations for a wrongful death claim in connection with Mrs. Bain's Estate would have run on January 19, 2012. The Petitioners therefore must establish that they shared an attorney-client relationship with the Respondent in January of 2012, which they cannot meet.

It is unquestioned that the Respondent resigned from Grishkevich & Curtis in April of 2011, and pursuant to the April 15, 2011, Agreement, the Petitioners' file remained the "sole property and responsibility of Grishkevich & Curtis." Thus, the Respondent had been totally disassociated with Grishkevich & Curtis for almost nine months when the statute of limitations ran. Moreover, on August 30, 2011, Grishkevich sent Petitioner McCoy a letter specifically advising her that the entire firm of Grishkevich & Curtis was dissolving and that Grishkevich and her paralegal, Melissa Miller, were keeping the Petitioners' file. 102

<sup>98</sup> See Ronald Mallen, LEGAL MALPRACTICE § 8:3 (2015 Edition).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> See Id. at § 8:4; see also Jackson v. Putnam County Bd. of Education, 221 W. Va. 170, 175, 653 S.E.2d 632, 637 (2007) (noting that the issue of whether a duty of care is owed is "a legal matter to be resolved by adjudication, rather than a factual question.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> See W. Va. Code § 55-7-6(d); Ohio Rev. Code § 2125.02(D)(l).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> App. at 235-238.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> App. at 239-240.

The Respondent had nothing to do with the Petitioners' file when he was employed at Grishkevich & Curtis, and when he resigned from Grishkevich & Curtis, his supervisor Grishkevich maintained sole responsibility for the Petitioners' file. The Petitioners cannot establish that they shared an attorney-client relationship with the Respondent when the statute of limitations ran; therefore, the Respondent was entitled to summary judgment.<sup>103</sup>

In *Devereux v. Love*, <sup>104</sup> for example, clients brought a legal malpractice action against an attorney in conjunction with his representation of them with another attorney who was subsequently sentenced to prison for defrauding the clients. The clients alleged that the departing attorney breached the standard of care by failing to advise them about any suspicions he may have had regarding the fraudster's conduct when he terminated his employment with the firm. Rejecting this theory, the court held:

The designated evidence reveals that by the time Devereux learned that Conour had mishandled active cases, Devereux had not served as the Loves' attorney for nearly two months. Importantly, Jim admitted that as of December 29, 2011, he knew that Devereux was no longer his attorney. Jim's admission undercuts his and Diana's claim on appeal that Devereux remained their attorney or retained some duty to them after he left the firm. As such, in this regard, we conclude that no issue of material fact remains that would preclude an award of summary judgment in favor of Devereux.<sup>105</sup>

Likewise, under circumstances like this case, clients brought a legal malpractice action arising from an alleged missed statute of limitations in *Estate of Mitchell v. Dougherty*, <sup>106</sup> against both the clients' current and former attorneys. As in this case, one of the attorneys employed by the law firm originally retained left and upon the attorney's departure, the case was retained by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> See Ronald Mallen, LEGAL MALPRACTICE § 8:3 (2015 Edition).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> 30 N.E.3d 754 (Ind. Ct. App. 2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> *Devereux*, supra at 765-766.

<sup>106 249</sup> Mich. App. 668, 644 N.W.2d 391 (2002).

the original firm. Also, as in this case, the departing attorney "did not provide any professional services for plaintiffs following" his "departure from the firm." The clients in *Mitchell* relied on the fact that the departing attorney had signed a retainer agreement, but the court rejected that argument as follows:

Specifically, plaintiffs argue that at the time they signed the contingency agreement with defendant attorneys, the attorneys were acting in a representative capacity for the firm, and the attorneys' disassociation with the firm did not terminate the relationship between plaintiffs and the firm...

A client's employment of one member of a law firm is generally deemed to be employment of the firm itself. MCR 2.117(B)(3); Plunkett & Cooney, PC v. Capitol Bancorp Ltd., 212 Mich. App. 325, 329, 536 N.W.2d 886 (1995). Defendant law firm does not dispute that an attorney-client relationship existed between it and plaintiffs at the time that plaintiffs entered into a contingency fee agreement with defendant attorneys. Instead the firm argues that its representation of plaintiffs ceased when defendant attorneys left the firm and assumed responsibility for plaintiffs' case.

Defendant law firm further argues that where a firm ceases to represent a client and the client acquires new counsel before the applicable limitation period expires, the [former] firm is not liable for the failure to file an action before the expiration of the limitation period, citing *Boyle v. Odette*, 168 Mich. App. 737, 425 N.W.2d 472 (1988)...

On the basis of our holding in *Boyle*, we would agree with defendant law firm that it could not be liable for the failure to pursue or timely file a claim where its representation of plaintiffs had ceased before the applicable period of limitation expired on the claim...

In view of the precedent establishing that an attorney-client relationship can be terminated by implication, we conclude that the facts of this case show the intent of plaintiffs to terminate their relationship with defendant law firm. Defendant attorneys ceased their association with defendant law firm in January 1996, and plaintiffs were aware that defendant attorneys would be partners in a new law firm. After defendant attorneys left defendant law firm, the firm did not provide any further professional services for plaintiffs. There is no evidence that plaintiffs either objected to representation by defendant attorneys through their new law firm or sought to continue representation by defendant law firm. Although

<sup>107</sup> Mitchell, supra at 394.

plaintiffs did not retain "new" counsel, plaintiffs' decision to continue their representation with defendant attorneys at a new firm rather than remain with defendant law firm was the functional equivalent of retaining a new attorney. On these facts, we find that plaintiffs relieved defendant law firm of its obligation to represent them when defendant attorneys ended their association with the law firm in January 1996...

The limitation period for plaintiffs' medical malpractice claim against Oakwood expired on February 25, 1997, more than a year after plaintiffs terminated their attorney-client relationship with defendant law firm in January 1996. Because defendant law firm cannot be liable for the failure to pursue or timely file plaintiffs' claim, the trial court did not err in concluding that defendant law firm was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.<sup>108</sup>

Here, although it is true that the Respondent in his role as an associate and at the direction of an owner of the law firm signed a second retainer agreement in the event his work was ever needed on the matter, he never performed any work on the matter either before or after his departure from the firm, and the statute of limitations expired well after his departure from the firm.<sup>109</sup>

Accordingly, the Circuit Court correctly determined that as in *Devereux* and *Mitchell*, a lawyer who leaves a firm which retains a matter is not liable to a client for malpractice which allegedly occurs after the lawyer has left the firm and which arose after his or her departure.

## 4. Alternatively, the Petitioners Lacked Standing to Pursue a Wrongful Death Claim on Behalf of Mrs. Bain's Estate.

In order to succeed on their claim against the Respondent, the Petitioners were required to establish not only that the Respondent breached a duty of care, but also that their alleged "damages are the direct and proximate result of such [breach]." In a legal malpractice action,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> Mitchell, supra at 398-401 (footnotes omitted).

<sup>109</sup> Additionally, it was eventually determined, after consultation with an expert, that there was no viable malpractice claim due to Mrs. Bain's medical history. App. at 216-217.

<sup>110</sup> Keister v. Talbott, supra at 748-49, 391 S.E.2d at 898-99.

proximate causation is viewed from the "case within a case" framework, meaning that the Petitioners were required to prove that but for the alleged negligence of the Respondent, they would have been successful on the wrongful death claim. If the Petitioners lacked standing to institute a wrongful death claim, then they cannot prevail on a legal malpractice claim.

In re Alan Deatley Litigation, 112 for example, a law firm sued its former client for over \$300,000 in unpaid legal fees in connection with underlying litigation involving the client's paving business. 113 In response to the law firm's complaint, the client filed a counterclaim for legal malpractice, claiming that the law firm negligently failed to pursue a breach of contract claim in the underlying litigation which ultimately forced the client to settle the underlying litigation under unfavorable terms. 114 The law firm responded by asserting that client had no right to pursue the breach of contract claim in the underlying litigation because any such right had been discharged in client's previous bankruptcy proceedings. 115 Thus, the law firm argued that even if it would have pursued the breach of contract claim, it would have been dismissed for lack of standing and the client could not establish that he would have succeeded on the breach of contract claim. The court agreed and granted the law firm's summary judgment motion:

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